S225589



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROLLAND JACKS and ROVE ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants

vs.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

CITY OF SANTA BARBARA,

Defendant and Respondent

AUG - 4 2015

OPENING BRIEF

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Published Decision of the Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B253474

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Santa Barbara, Case No. 1383959

Honorable Thomas P.Anderle, Judge Presiding

ARIEL PIERRE CALONNE, City Attorney (110268) TOM R. SHAPIRO, Asst. City Attorney (127383) TShapiro@santabarbaraca.gov

CITY OF SANTA BARBARA

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is the City of Santa Barbara's 1 percent increase on its electricity bills (i.e., the 1 percent surcharge) a tax subject to Proposition 218's voter approval requirement or a franchise fee that may be imposed by the City without voter consent?

INTRODUCTION

This case involves a single legal question: is a fee established pursuant to a franchise negotiated between the chartered city of Santa Barbara ("the City") and Southern California Edison ("SCE") for the latter's use of the City's rights of way and other property for its for-profit activity a "tax" requiring voter approval under 1996's Proposition 218? Such fees have long been understood not to be taxes under California law and nothing in Proposition 218 changes that for three reasons:

- Proposition 218 did not change the definition of "tax" established by earlier case law;
- Proposition 218 applies only to revenue measures
 governments "impose," not voluntary payments
 negotiated by sophisticated, commercial entities with
 substantial market power like SCE; and
- The 1 percent increase to the franchise fee is not charged because SCE owns property, but because it does not — it is in the nature of rent for use of City rights of way and other

property. Therefore it is not a property related fee within the reach of Proposition 218 — article XIII D, section 6 of our Constitution.¹

This conclusion is confirmed by the definition of "tax" adopted by 2010's Proposition 26.

Plaintiffs and Appellants Rolland Jacks and Rove Enterprises, Inc. (collectively, "Jacks") argue the 1 percent increase of the City's franchise fee is a tax, distinguished from other franchise fees, because its economic incidence is on SCE's customers — that is, they ultimately pay it. This argument is unavailing. The law is well settled that whether a charge is a tax is determined by its legal incidence - i.e., who has a legal duty to pay it. It is equally well settled that payments for use of government property are in the nature of rent, not taxes. Jacks' theory would unsettle decades of law. It would make tax law unpredictable because the economic incidence of a revenue measure turns on the market power of those who bear a legal duty to pay it, and market power changes from time to time and place to place. By contrast, the legal incidence of a revenue measure is stable, knowable by the usual tools of statutory construction, and better serves the needs of courts and the society they serve.

¹ All references in this brief to articles and sections of articles are to the California Constitution.

Jacks provides no serviceable test to characterize the fee as a tax. Taxes and fees alike are accounted for in general funds and are used to fund a variety of services. The fact the City agreed the 1 percent increase would not be payable until after Public Utilities Commission (PUC) action is irrelevant to the question whether the fee is a tax. At bottom, like all franchise fees, the 1 percent increase to which SCE and Santa Barbara agreed as consideration for the franchise is not a tax — it is a payment for the use of City property.

For all these reasons, the City urges this Court to affirm Judge Anderle's grant of judgment on the pleadings to the City.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

I. 1989 PUC DECISION

The Public Utilities Commission ("PUC") adopted Decision 89-05-063 ("Decision") on May 26, 1989. The Decision followed Proposition 13 but preceded Propositions 218 and 26, and came at a time when Proposition 62 was understood to be unenforceable.²

² Proposition 62, Government Code sections 53720 et seq., restates Proposition 13's requirement for two-thirds voter approval of local government special taxes and imposed a new requirement for majority voter approval of local general taxes. (Gov. Code, §§ 53722 [special taxes], 53723 [general taxes]; Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 4 [Prop. 13 requirement of two-thirds voter approval of special taxes].)

(2JA7:415,³ citing *Schopflin v. Dole* (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d 617.⁴) It standardizes what had been an earlier, ad hoc practice (see 2JA7:421, fn. 3 and 2JA7:438, fn. 15) to require investor-owned utilities like SCE to segregate and pass through to local customers costs to comply with some requirements of cities or counties. This reflected the PUC's view that these local costs were more appropriately borne by local utility customers alone rather than by all a utility's customers. However, the Decision expressly disclaims legal authority to characterize local government revenue measures as taxes or otherwise or to interfere with their imposition. (2JA7:416, 436–437, 442–443.)

The Decision allowed a utility to include in its general rate base and thereby charge all customers for its cost of:

some franchise fees — those of 0.5 and 1 percent imposed under the Broughton Act (Pub. Util. Code, § 6001 et seq.) and the Franchise Act of 1937 (Pub. Util. Code, § 6201 et seq.) (2JA7:435, fn. 8);

³ Citations to the Joint Appendix are in the form: [Volume]JA[TAB#]:[p.#].

⁴ This decision concluded Proposition 62's voter-approval requirement violated article II, section 9's prohibition on referenda on taxes. It was subsequently depublished and its rule overtaken by this Court's decision upholding Proposition 62 in *Santa Clara County Transportation Authority v. Guardino* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220.

- ad valorem property taxes (2JA7:438); and,
- utility users taxes other than on the utility's own use of utility services (*ibid*.).

Thus, those charges the PUC requires to be segregated from the general rate base are not necessarily taxes. Its rule is both over-and under-inclusive as a test of what this Court has found to be "taxes" under Proposition 13 — it excludes some taxes (utility users taxes and ad valorem property taxes) and includes assessments, fees, and a utility's own costs of regulatory compliance.

The Decision does not purport to characterize local government revenue measures as taxes or otherwise, and applies broadly to all kinds of local government revenue devices — including:

- taxes (2JA7:421, 426, 429, 436, 438, 445);
- assessments on property (2JA7:417, 441, 446);
- non-property assessments (2JA7:428);
- fees of various kinds (2JA7:418, 421, 423, 428, 436, 438, 445);
- costs utilities incur to collect locally imposed taxes,
 franchise fees, and related administrative requirements
 (2JA7:417, 446);
- regulatory costs such as fees for excavations in public rights of way (2JA7:428); and

 costs to relocate utility infrastructure to facilitate roadway improvements (*ibid.*).

Moreover, the Decision relies upon the long-standing rule that franchise fees are not taxes. (2JA7:417, 425 ["[Franchise fees] are not taxes on property or license charges for the privilege of operating a business, but rather they are negotiated, long-term mandatory contracts providing the governmental entities with compensation for the privilege extended to the utility to use or occupy streets or other public property within the franchise area."], 427.)

Thus, the charges the PUC requires to be segregated from the general rate base are not necessarily taxes, and the Decision does not provide a helpful test of whether a revenue measure is a tax. Nor did the PUC ever intend its Decision to provide such a test.

II. THE HISTORY OF SANTA BARBARA'S FRANCHISE FEE

Santa Barbara is a chartered city with the power to impose franchise fees in excess of the 0.5 and 1 percent rates authorized by the Broughton Act and the Franchise Act of 1937. (*Southern Pacific Pipe Lines, Inc. v. City of Long Beach* (1988) 204 Cal.App.3d 660, 669–670 & fn. 8 [chartered cities may adopt home-rule franchise regulations or issue franchises].)⁵ In 1959, the City adopted a

⁵ California has two types of cities: those governed by the general laws and those governed pursuant to voter-approved charters

franchise agreement with SCE for electricity service in the City. (2JA7:344 at ¶ 4, 387–392.) The 1959 franchise had a term of 25 years — through 1984 — and referred to a preexisting "constitutional franchise." (2JA7:344 at ¶ 4, 389 at § 2.) As early as 1887, the Santa Barbara Electric Company had installed lights on one Santa Barbara street. (2JA7:343 at ¶ 1.)

The City's voters approved a new charter in 1967, which has been in effect throughout this dispute. (2JA7:343–344 at ¶ 2, 354–385.) In 1984, as the 1959 franchise agreement was to expire, the City and SCE negotiated a new franchise with a 10-year term, through 1994. (2JA7:344 at ¶ 5, 394–401.) The parties extended this agreement five times through December 1999 as they negotiated a new agreement. (2JA7:344 at ¶ 6.) The parties made a new franchise agreement in December 1999 with a term of 30 years — through 2029. (2JA7:346 at ¶ 12, 403–413.)

authorized by article XI, section 5. Chartered cities may by ordinance preempt statutes that govern "municipal affairs" but not those which address "matters of statewide concern." (See generally, *Johnson v. Bradley* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 389, 394 [discussing historic foundations of home rule in California]; The Cal. Municipal Law Handbook (Cont. Ed. Bar 2015) §§ 1.9 et seq.).) Santa Barbara is a chartered city. (2JA7:343–344 at ¶ 2, 354–385.)

⁶ The term refers to franchises granted by a since-repealed provision of our Constitution. (See generally, *City of Santa Cruz v. Pacific Gas & Elec. Co.* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 1167, 1171.)

III. THE 1999 FRANCHISE FEE AGREEMENT

The 1984 franchise agreement and its subsequent extensions established a franchise fee of 1 percent of the gross receipts of the sale of electricity, consistent with the Broughton Act. (See 2JA7:396.) The City sought an increased fee in negotiations for the 1999 franchise. (2JA7:344 at ¶ 8.) SCE ultimately agreed to pay a 2 percent franchise fee, provided all PUC procedures were followed. That required compliance with the Decision and separate listing of the 1 percent increase on customers' bills. (2JA7:345 at ¶ 9.) The parties agreed to the franchise, and the City enacted it by Ordinance No. 5135 on December 7, 1999 as required by section 1401 of the City Charter. (2JA7:346 at ¶ 12, 383 at § 1401, 403–413.)

Given the Decision's requirement the PUC approve a utility's request to recover the cost of such a fee from its customers' rates, the Agreement distinguishes an "Initial Term Fee" — to be paid pending PUC approval — from the "Recovery Portion" — the 1 percent increase SCE agreed to pay thereafter. (2JA7:406–407 at §§ 5–6.) The Decision obliges SCE to list that charge separately on bills to customers in Santa Barbara rather than to recover it from all its customers.

The Decision requires a utility seeking permission to recover the cost of a local charge, tax or fee above the average in the utility's service area to request an advice letter from the PUC. (2JA7:439–440.) SCE did not immediately pursue PUC permission to recover

the cost of the 1 percent increase given turmoil in the electricity market following California's famously failed experiment with energy deregulation. (2JA7:348 at ¶ 17.) In November 2004, when energy markets stabilized, the City Council authorized a letter to SCE instructing it to seek PUC approval to recoup the 1 percent increase from customers. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 18–19.) SCE did so on March 30, 2005 (2JA7:468-471) and the PUC granted approval by an April 20, 2005 advice letter (2JA7:479). SCE has since collected both the "Initial Term Fee" and "Recovery Portion." (2JA7:350 at ¶ 23.)

IV. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Jacks filed the first Complaint here in December 2011 claiming the 1 percent increase⁷ was a new tax enacted without the voter approval required by Propositions 62 and 218. (1JA3:56 at ¶ 59.) The City answered by general denial, raising affirmative defenses. Jacks filed a First Amended Complaint ("FAC"), dropping references to Proposition 62 which, of course, does not apply to chartered cities. (*Traders Sports, Inc. v. City of San Leandro* (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 37, 46–47.) (1JA5:77 at ¶ 68.) The City's answer to the initial Complaint was deemed its response to the FAC.

⁷ The parties and the record sometimes refer to the 1 percent increase as the 1 percent "surcharge" to distinguish it from the historic 1 percent franchise fee.

The parties then stipulated to facts in support of cross-motions for summary judgment, attaching relevant documents. (2JA7:343–479.)⁸ The trial court denied the motions in a 21-page ruling (3JA14:600–621) concluding Jacks had not shown the City's franchise fee increase violated the Broughton Act or the Franchise Act of 1937 (3JA14:610). The trial court also rejected the City's argument SCE was an indispensable party. (*Ibid.*) The trial court denied Jacks' motion as to the Proposition 218 claim, concluding Proposition 26 — enacted after the City began collecting the 1 percent increase — raised unresolved questions that barred complete resolution of either cause of action on the undisputed evidence. Specifically, the trial court questioned whether Proposition 26 is retroactive, found that Proposition 218 did not apply to the 1 percent increase, and thus that no vote was required until the 2010 effective date of Proposition 26 at the earliest. (3JA14:620–621.)

The City then moved for judgment on the pleadings, citing Brooktrails Township Community Services District v. Board of Supervisors of Mendocino County (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 195, 206–207 (Brooktrails), which holds Proposition 26 is not retroactive as to local governments. (3JA15:622–639.) Judge Anderle granted the City's motion without leave to amend, concluding:

⁸ The parties agreed to a second set of stipulated facts in support of the City's subsequent motion for judgment on the pleadings, but these do not figure substantially here. (3JA18:676–681.)

- the Agreement did not violate the Broughton Act or the Franchise Act of 1937, because neither applies to chartered cities (1JA1:7–8 [incorporating by reference the analysis of Feb. 26, 2013 order denying summary judgment]);
- the City's use of the proceeds of franchise fee for general fund purposes is immaterial to characterization of the franchise fee as a fee or tax (1JA1:15, citing Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assn. v. City of Roseville (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 637, 648 (Roseville));
- the 1 percent increase is paid for the privilege of using the City's rights of way and other property under *Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866 (*Sinclair Paint*) and *Hagman v. Meher Mount Corp.* (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 82, 91–92 (*Hagman*) (1JA1:15);
- that the 1 percent increase is not limited to the City's costs to make its rights-of-way available to SCE and therefore generates general fund revenue does not make it a tax (1JA:16);
- that SCE passes the 1 percent increase through to its customers —
 just as it recoups from customers' rates the Initial Term Fee and
 the franchise fees of all other cities and counties in its service area
 does not make it a tax (1JA1:16);
- Proposition 26 is not retroactively applicable to the 1 percent increase (1JA1:18, citing *Brooktrails*); and
- the 1 percent increase would be exempt from Proposition 218, in any event, under article XIII D, section 3, subdivision (b) which

states: "For purposes of this article, fees for the provision of electrical or gas service shall not be deemed charges or fees imposed as an incident of property ownership." (1JA1:19–20).

The City filed a notice of entry of judgment on October 31, 2013. (1JA1:1.) Jacks timely appealed December 26, 2013.

The Court of Appeal issued its decision on February 26, 2015, concluding the 1 percent increase is essentially a utility users tax and invalid because not approved by voters as required by article XIII C, section 2, subdivision (b) — Proposition 218. This Court granted review June 10, 2015, depublishing that decision.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Disputes under articles XIII C and XIII D are reviewed de novo. (Silicon Valley Taxpayers Ass'n, Inc. v. Santa Clara County Open Space Authority (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431, 448–450; Greene v. Marin County Flood Control and Water Conservation Dist. (2010) 49 Cal.4th 277, 287 (Greene).) Review of judgment on the pleadings is also de novo. (People ex rel. Harris v. Pac Anchor Transp., Inc. (2014) 59 Cal.4th 772, 777.)

Whether the 1 percent increase is a tax requiring voter approval is a question of law, also reviewed de novo. (*Sinclair Paint, supra*, 15 Cal.4th at pp. 873–874.)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. BEFORE PROPOSITION 26, FRANCHISE FEES WERE NOT TAXES

There was no definition of "tax" in the state Constitution before 2010's Proposition 26 added subdivision (b) to article XIII A, section 3 and subdivision (e) to article XIII C, section 1. Proposition 13 and Proposition 218 do not define "taxes," but rely on earlier case law. This Court helpfully summarized the state of the law when Proposition 218 was adopted in 1996 as follows:

The cases recognize that "tax" has no fixed meaning, and that the distinction between taxes and fees is frequently "blurred," taking on different meanings in different contexts. (Russ Bldg. Partnership v. City and County of San Francisco, supra, 199 Cal.App.3d at p. 1504;^[9] Terminal Plaza Corp. v. City and County of San Francisco (1986) 177 Cal.App.3d 892, 905 [223 Cal.Rptr. 379];^[10] Mills v. County of Trinity (1980) 108 Cal.App.3d

⁹ Russ Bldg. Partnership holds San Francisco's transit impact fee on new commercial development is a development impact fee, not a tax.

¹⁰ *Terminal Plaza Corp.* holds San Francisco's development impact fee on those who redevelop residential hotels for other uses to fund mitigation of housing loss is a development impact fee, not a tax.

656, 660 [166 Cal.Rptr. 674];^[11] County of Fresno v. Malmstrom (1979) 94 Cal.App.3d 974, 983-984 [156 Cal.Rptr. 777].[12]) In general, taxes are imposed for revenue purposes, rather than in return for a specific benefit conferred or privilege granted. (Shapell Industries, Inc. v. Governing Board (1991) 1 Cal. App. 4th 218, 240 [1 Cal.Rptr.2d 818];^[13] County of Fresno v. Malmstrom, supra, 94 Cal.App.3d at p. 983 ["Taxes are raised for the general revenue of the governmental entity to pay for a variety of public services."].) Most taxes are compulsory rather than imposed in response to a voluntary decision to develop or to seek other government benefits or privileges. (Shapell Industries, Inc. v. Governing Board, supra, 1 Cal. App.4th at p. 240; Russ Bldg. Partnership v. City and County of San Francisco, supra, 199 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1505–1506; see Terminal Plaza Corp. v. City and County of San Francisco, supra, 177 Cal.App.3d at p. 907.) But compulsory fees may be

¹¹ *Mills* holds Trinity County's land use permit processing fees are regulatory fees, not taxes.

¹² Malmstrom holds assessments on real property under the Municipal Improvement Acts of 1911 and 1915 are not taxes.

¹³ Shapell Industries holds fees on housing development to fund school construction are development impact fees, not taxes.

deemed legitimate fees rather than taxes. (See Kern County Farm Bureau v. County of Kern (1993) 19
Cal.App.4th 1416, 1424 [23 Cal.Rptr.2d 910].[14])"

(Sinclair Paint, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 874.)

Franchise and other fees for use of government property have long been understood not to be taxes. As early as 1922, this Court defined a franchise fee as a:

charge which the holder of the franchise undertakes to pay as part of the consideration for the privilege of using the avenues and highways occupied by the public utility.

(County of Tulare v. Dinuba (1922) 188 Cal. 664, 670.) In 1989, the Court of Appeal determined Santa Barbara County's franchise fee on SCE was not subject to the Gann Limit of article XIII B as generating "proceeds of taxation." (Santa Barbara County Taxpayer Assn. v. Board of Supervisors (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 940, 950 (Santa Barbara County Taxpayer). See also Roseville, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th 637 at p. 648 [distinguishing franchise fee from general fund transfer from municipal utility under Prop. 218].)

¹⁴ Kern County Farm Bureau held a fee collected on the property tax roll from agricultural property owners to fund operation of county landfills was a service or regulatory fee, not a tax.

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