SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP - 1 2015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ROLLAND JACKS and ROVE ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

v.

CITY OF SANTA BARBARA

Defendant/Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

After a Published Decision of the Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B253474

Regarding a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Santa Barbara Case No. 1383959

Honorable Thomas P. Anderle, Judge Presiding

HUSKINSON, BROWN & HEIDENREICH, LLP

David W.T. Brown (SBN 147321)
Paul E. Heidenreich (SBN 116618)
1200 Aviation Boulevard, Suite 202
Redondo Beach, CA 90278
Telephone: (310) 545-5459

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

A. SCE-CITY CONTRACT TERMS.

The OB seems to contend that the SCE-City franchise defines the 1% surcharge as a "franchise fee" paying "rent" for SCE's for-profit

endeavors.¹¹ [OB at pp. 28-34] Because the franchise agreement was enacted by Ordinance 5135 to financially burden Appellants and utility users who were not parties to the electricity franchise agreement, analysis of terms of Ordinance 5135 resolves this ambiguous defense:

"SECTION 4. Compensation.

This Franchise is granted upon the express condition of, and in exchange for, the commitment by Grantee that Grantee, as a consideration therefor and *as compensation for use of the streets* in the City, as herein authorized and permitted, shall pay to the City on the first day of November of each year during the Initial Term of this Franchise, a sum, annually, which shall be equivalent to 1% of the Gross Annual Receipts of Grantee (the "Initial Term Fee"). [emphasis added]"

SECTION 5. Extension Term Payments.

B. Grantee shall **collect** a portion of the Extension Term Fee in the amount of 1% of the Gross Annual Receipts of Grantee (the "Recovery portion") **from all electric utility customers** served by Grantee within the boundaries of the City. The customer collection shall be applied equally to Grantee's electric utility customers based on consumption or use of

¹¹Like the definition of a tax or a franchise fee, the definition of "rent" necessarily requires consideration of the identity of the obligated payer and the person obtaining rights to use the property. As stated in *Davis v Fresno Unified School District* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261 at footnote 3: rent is the "consideration paid periodically in exchange for the use or occupancy of real property. (Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009) p. 1410 [definition of rent].)"

electricity, including residential, commercial, industrial, government and wholesale customers.

C. The *conditions precedent* to the obligation of Grantee under this Section 5 to levy, collect, and deliver to City the Recovery Portion as a part of the Extension Term Fee, *shall be the conditions set forth in Section 6 below [concerning CPUC approval]*.

SECTION 6. California Public Utilities Comm. Approval.

A. Prior to Grantee's payment to City of the Recovery Portion of the Extension Term Fee, Grantee shall receive approval from the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) to collect the Recovery Portion (as described in Section 5 above) in accordance with CPUC Decision 89-05-63¹², Guidelines for the Equitable Treatment of Revenue Producing Mechanisms Imposed by Local Government Entities on Public Utilities, 32 CPUC 2d 60, May 26, 1989 (the "CPUC Recovery Guidelines"). . . .

¹²CPUC Decision 89-05-63 does not address rate increases or *utility imposed* charges as the OB contends. It is entitled *Guidelines for the Equitable Treatment of Revenue Producing Mechanisms Imposed by Local Government Entities on Public Utilities* and provides the process for a utility to obtain CPUC permission to bill, by separate line item, charges *imposed* by local governments. The City's contention at p. 17 that D89-05-063 created a "requirement the PUC approve a utility's request to recover the costs of such a [contractual] fee from its customers' rates" is a false statement of law. SCE did not submit a CPUC <u>Public Utilities Code</u> §454(a) application to change its rates and D89-05-063 is a different process than that required for rate increases. "Passthrough" fees, because they are not a *utility's* charges to provide services are not a part of a utility's "rates". <u>Public Utility Code</u> sections 451, 453, 453.8, 454, 464, and 728 and CPUC D89-05-063.

C. In the event the Recovery Portion required is not approved by the CPUC, the **Initial Term Fee shall remain due** and owing to the City for each annual period (or portion thereof) during which this Franchise remains in effect.

D. If the Recovery Portion is approved by the CPUC, Grantee shall implement **customer collections** as soon as possible following the CPUC approval. . . .

SECTION 7. Franchise Payments.

In the event that the CPUC or any court of competent jurisdiction orders the return to electric utility ratepayer(s) of any amount represented by the Franchise payments, which has been collected by Grantee and paid to the City, or in the event the parties agree as a result of a challenge and settlement thereof that a refunding will occur, then City shall be solely responsible for such repayment. [emphasis added]" [AA 2:403-413.]

B. INTRODUCTION.

Because the OB argues contradictorily that both SCE and utility users pay the 1% surcharge [See footnotes 1-3], because the City argues intermittently that all of the payments are made by contract [Contra See, OB page 29-30 regarding the alleged imposition the surcharge by SCE and OB p. 45 regarding the City's legislative enactment of Ordinance 5135], and because the City stipulated that utility users pay the 1% surcharge [AA 2:343-351], the ambiguously expressed contract defense must contend that

the 1% surcharge payments *made by utility users* are somehow contractual.¹³

However, as the city stipulated that utility users are obligated by

Ordinance 5135 to pay the 1% surcharge [AA 3:676-681, fact 16] this

defense is absurd. However, in an abundance of caution and to avoid

waiving any legal or factual issues, this convoluted, factually unsupported

argument will be addressed in detail.

To determine if the 1% surcharge is "contractual" requires applying the rules of contractual interpretation to the contract the City seeks to apply, the SCE-City franchise. The City's proposal, i.e. non-contracting utility users are (1) *contractually* burdened by the 1% surcharge (2) as consideration for SCE's use of City streets, is unsupported by the contract, the Stipulate facts, or Proposition 218. Rather, because utility users *did not agree by contract* to pay the 1% surcharge, the City enacted Ordinance 5135 to create Appellants' legal obligation to pay the 1% surcharge. [OB p. 45, AA:2:403-413. See also, AA 3:676-681]

C. RULES OF CONTRACT INTERPRETATION.

¹³If the franchise fee defense addresses payments made *by SCE* pursuant to its contractual franchise fee obligation, the defense fails because it has no application to the damage and liability issues in the case that address the utility users financial burdens. [AA 2:403-413, AA 2:343-351 and 3:676-681.]

The contract defense misrepresents the relationship between utility users and the City and violates all tenets of contract interpretation. Civil Code Sections 1635 et seq. The law requires interpreting a contract to avoid absurdity [Civil Code 1638], to allow the language of the contract to govern its interpretation [Civil Code §1638], to give effect to the entire contract [Civil Code §1641], to give an interpretation that is reasonable and capable of being carried into effect [Civil Code Section 1643], and to give effect in the sense in which the promisor believed, at the time of making it. [Civil Code §1649].

The rules of contractual interpretation requiring answering key questions: who entered the contract?, what were their duties?, what, if any, are Appellants' contractual duties?, who pays the surcharges?, did the utility users promise to be bound by the contract?, did the utility users acquire rights to use City property by their payments of Ordinance 5135 surcharges?, and did Appellants agree to pay SCE's consideration for its for-profit activities and use of City streets?

The Stipulations answer these questions. The utility users are not parties to the contract, they are required to pay the charges by City Ordinance, not contract, and they never agreed to pay "contractual consideration" to advance SCE's for-profit endeavors. [AA 3:676-681 and

AA 2:403-413] Therefore, the defense that utility users' 1% surcharge financial burden was "negotiated" or "agreed" or a contract based "fee" fails. Further, neither of the contracting parties, SCE or the City, had authority to act as agents for Appellants *to waive their Proposition 218* rights¹⁴. Civil Code §§2019 et seq, §§2304 et seq, and §§2339 et seq.

D. CONTRACT LAW AND THE CITY'S DEFENSE.

The OB seeks a legal finding, contrary to logic, the stipulated facts, and Ordinance 5135, that Appellants and the utility users who pay the subject charges, make the Ordinance 5135 payments <u>based upon contract</u> as consideration for SCE's for-profit activities. The defense fails because:

- Santa Barbara never had legal authority to impose contractual burdens upon each of thousands of utility users.
- SCE never had legal authority to impose contractual burdens upon its customers to benefit the City's general fund.
- Appellants and Utility users were not "contracting parties".
- Proposition 218 does not include an exception from citizen
 participatory rights for local government imposed financial burdens

¹⁴Because Proposition 218 precludes new city taxes imposed without voter approval, any claim that a city could act as an agent for the voters to waive Proposition 218 rights is necessarily absurd, because it would render the Proposition meaningless.

- that are imposed by city ordinance, referenced in public contracts, and collected by franchisees.
- No Legal authority exists to allow a franchise contract to burden non-contracting utility users with the obligation to pay contractual consideration for a franchisee's for-profit activities.
 - The City's contract defense further fail because of the following:
- The term "party" or "promissor" for contractual enforcement and interpretation does not include non-parties to the contract. [See,
 Civil Code sections 1556 et seq.]
- 2. "Consent" and "mutual consent" by SCE to assess, collect and remit a UUT is not "consent" by utility users to pay the surcharges. [See, Civil Code sections 1565 et seq]
- 3. The terms "object of a contract" and "lawfulness of the object of a contract" preclude a City contract that eliminates Proposition 218 rights. [See, Civil Code sections 1595 et seq and Proposition 218].
- 4. The terms "contractual consideration" and "consideration" do not include payments made by non-contracting parties of City Ordinance surcharges as the "consideration" to benefit a contracting franchisee's for-profit activities. [See, Civil Code §§1605 et seq]

- 5. SCE and the City's contractual "intent" cannot impose financial burdens upon non contracting parties. [See, Civil Code §§ 1636-37]

 The subject contract, when applied to the law of contracts, precludes the City's contract defense.
- XI. APPELLANTS WERE BURDENED WITH BOTH THE LEGAL AND ECONOMIC INCIDENCE OF THE UUT BY CITY ORDINANCE 5135.
 - A. THE CITY'S EFFORT TO DEFINE TAXES, CONTRACTS, AND FINANCIAL BURDENS IT IMPOSES VIOLATES PROPOSITION 218.

Page 36 of the OB acknowledges that there is a material difference between the Initial Term Fee and 1% surcharge. They "differ . . . in that the franchise ordinance expressly allows the latter to be passed through to customers. However, . . . both fees are in fact passed through to SCE's customers¹⁵ and both fund the City's general fund." This hypothesis that a (1) difference in the identify of the payer of a City enacted charge (utility users and not franchisees), (2) difference in the City's actions to *impose* the fee (Ordinance and not franchise agreement), and (3) difference in the character of the Proposition 218 charges [tax and not fee] is irrelevant to

¹⁵The City attempts to define franchise fees, utility rates, and UUTs as identical. However, Ordinance 5135 provides that the 1% surcharge is a City enacted pass along fee subject to CPUC D89-05-063 processes. CPUC D89-05-063 does not apply to utility rates or to SCE business expenses for which rate increases may be necessary. <u>Public Utility Code</u> §§ 451 et seq.

Proposition 218 analysis, is presented without legal support or explanation. However, this is an *admission* that (1) SCE does not pay the 1% surcharge and (2) utility users do. In a Proposition 218 case addressing City enacted financial burden enacted without an election, that admission resolves the case in favor of the Plaintiffs.

B. ECONOMIC AND LEGAL INCIDENCE.

The City's efforts to deny Appellants' their Proposition 218 rights continues at page 37-40 wherein the City posits a convoluted issue apparently claiming that the mere reference in a franchise agreement to a utility's tax collection obligations has the legal affect of separating an alleged economic and legal incidence of **that tax** to <u>create a heretofore unknown Proposition 218 exception</u>. This hypothesis fails.

First, the claim begins with the unsupportable conclusion that SCE has a "legal" burden to *pay*, rather than only to collect and remit, the 1% surcharge. It does not. The Stipulated Facts [AA 2:343-351 and 3:676-681. See also, OB at pp. 17, 28, 29, 30, 32, 40, 41, 45, and 46] and Ordinance [AA 2:403-413] place the financial obligation only on utility users.

Second, Ordinance 5135 did not split the surcharge into a separate economic and legal "incidence". [See, Section X.A. *infra*] In fact, the pleadings specifically exclude issues concerning contractual payments made

by SCE. [AA 1:63-81 and 2:403-413] Further, if SCE owed a 2% franchise fee (as the OB intermittently implies), the 1% Initial Term Fee and the 1% surcharge would be identical and the charges would not be "passed along" but would either be paid from SCE's gross profits or would be a basis for an effort by SCE to increase its electricity rates. SCE did not agree to pay a 2% Franchise fee payment. [AA 2:403-413. See also, AA:2:468-471] Each pay period, SCE makes separate, and always different, payments to the City: (1) a franchise fee payment and (2) remittance of the utility user 1% surcharge payments. These amounts are never identical and the 1% surcharge has been the lesser amount for every known period. [AA 2:334.]

Third, the City's legal vs economic incidence issue is not expressed as an analogy, but is presented by the City as an applicable statement of law. [OB at pp. 37-40] The argument misrepresents the law. This division of a tax arises *in limited, rare and specific instances*. It arises when a division between the legal and economic burdens of *business taxes* can, *statutorily*, be made so the tax <u>owed by</u> a business can lawfully be passed by that particular business to its customers. Under this limited and inapplicable circumstance, a *business* that is <u>statutorily</u> obligated to pay a tax may *statutorily* pass along the tax to its customers. ¹⁶ That *statutory* situation

¹⁶E.g, Revenue and Taxation Code sections 6051, 7351 et seq and 8733 concerning gas and sales taxes.

does not apply to the City's contract defense or to UUTs, franchise fees, or the 1% surcharge.

Fourth, Proposition 218 does not include an exception to allow the City, by contract, to divide an alleged "legal" and "economic" incidence of a Proposition 218 tax to eliminate taxpayer rights. Respondent's discussion of this issue cites neither Proposition 218 nor Proposition 218 case law as authority for a City to split a UUT into separate legal and economic incidence to eliminate citizens' Proposition 218 rights.

Fifth, this theory *only* applies to taxes. Therefore, the argument on its face (like the Separation of Powers argument at OB p. 45) is an admission that Article XIIIC section 2(b) taxes were enacted by the City for which an election was required.

Sixth, *Torres v City of Yorba Linda* (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 1035 is an irrelevant case addressing standing in a statutory sales tax setting and *Cornelius v Los Angeles County etc Authority* (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1761 is a <u>Code of Civil Procedure</u> section 526a Waste case addressing "standing" applicable to statutory sales and gas tax issues.¹⁷ Neither case involves an

¹⁷If these "standing" cases are raised by the City for the contention that utility users, who pay the 1% surcharge, lack standing to contest Ordinance 5135, that defense, if applied to preclude consideration of the taxpayers' financial burdens and rights, would violate appellants' Article XIII section 32 rights and their state and federal due process rights to contest taxes imposed upon them. See also, Richards v. Jefferson County, Alabama

attempt by a governmental entity to deny citizens' Proposition 218 rights by a city contract that allegedly separated the legal and economic incidence of financial obligations that a city *imposed* upon utility users. [AA 3:676-681 and 2:403-413.]

Seventh, this effort to redefine the 1% surcharge to try to eliminate citizens' Proposition 218 voter rights was not an issue that was accepted by the Court for Review.

Therefore, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeal Order to enter judgment for the Plaintiffs.

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